RESEARCH REPORT No.2

AT THE MERCY OF NUCLEAR WEAPONS:

ORIGIN OF U.S. NUCLEAR POLICY, 1939-1945
Seiitsu TACHIBANA

Hosei University




RESEARCH REPORT No.2

AT THE MERCY OF NUCLEAR WEAPONS:

ORIGIN OF U.S. NUCLEAR POLICY, 1939-1945
Seiitsu TACHIBANA

Hosei University

The theme of this essay was presented by the author at a2 “Symposium on Historical Processes Leading to
the Atomic Bombing,” held on March 18, 1978, at the Science Council of Japan, under the joint auspi-
ces of the National Committee on Peace Research in the Science Council of Japan, the Japan National
Committee on the History of World War II, and the Historical Science Society of Japan. For valuable
assistance and counsel, acknowledgement is gratefully extended to: Herbert BIX, Andrew and Tomoko
HUGHES, ISHIHARA Yasunori, KUBOTA Aiko, KUGAI Saburo, MATSUO Keiko, Stephen SALAFF,

SHINKAWA Kenzaburo, YAMAGIWA Akira, and YUI Daizaburo.



II.

II1-1.
II-2.
II-3.
I1-4.
I1-5.

ITI-6.

III

ITI-1.

ITI-2.

IV.
IV-1.
IV-2.

Iv-3.

CONTENTS

. Prologue

Anglo-American Collaboration
in Atomic Bomb Development

Initial Interchange . .

Conflicts and Collaboration

The Quebec Agreement

The Combined Development Trust

The Rooseveélt-Churchill "Aide-Memoire'"

French Scientists

. The Raw Materials Strategy and

Intelligence Operations Overseas
The Raw Materials Strategy

Intelligence Operations Overseas

The Bomb as Instrument of Policy
The Bomb Quid Pro Quo
Measures for Atomic Monopoly

The Bomb as Reality

. Epilogue

Notes

.11
. 20
. 22
. 24

. 28

. 30

30
34

35
35
40

. 47

49

53



I. PROLOGUE

For at least a week or so after the defeat of Japanese
militarism in mid-August 1945, the U.S. had no atomic bombs

1.(1) Infants born in that year, now

in its nuclear arsena
in their thirties, live in a world with nuclear arsenals
of overkill capacity to wipe out many times over the total
life of the world's people. The implications of this are
too vast to be treated here, but a modest attempt may be
made by tracing the origin of U.S. nuclear policy.
The secret project of the wartime American Government
for development of the atomic bomb, or the Manhattan Project,
as it later came to be called, was initiated in October
1939 by President Franklin D. Roosevelt, allegedly to ensure
that '""the Nazis don't blow us up,”(z) but it was not termi-
nated even on the collapse of the Third Reich. Only one
British physicist (of Polish origin) is known to have left the
Manhattan Project at that time, believing his mission to have
been completed.(s) The collapse of the Nazis on May 8, 1945,
led to the staff of the secret bomb-design laboratory at Los
Alamos being required to work even harder than before to
complete the bomb in time for it to be used against Japan.(4)
President Harry S. Truman's statement that the atomic
bombing was necessary to '"'shorten the agony of war...to save

11(5)

the lives of thousands and thousands of young Americans,



and the later assertion by Henry L. Stimson, Secretary of
War at the time, that the early ending of the war by the
atomic bombing saved the greater destruction of Japanese

(6)

1ifé'and property as well, could possibly have been
accepted at face value if the U.S. Government had taken
drastic measures for the abolition of nuclear weapons
immediately after the war, when the Nazis and the Japanese
milifariéts, the sworn enemies, had been defeated, and the
origiﬁally claimed justification for the development of
atomic bombs had lost its rationale.

Working as a consultant on the Manhattan Project, the
Dénish physicist, Niels Bohr, on various occasions in 1944
had emphatiéally urged both President Roosevelt and Prime
Minister Winston Churchill that, during wartime, they enter
into an agreement with the Soviets for postwar control over
‘atomic weapons. While this approach was ultimately rejected

by the two leaders,(7)

and whereas such a plan, even if
‘accepted, could have degenetated into an instrument of big
power politics unless accompanied by the outlawing of the
very possession of nuclear weapons, the Truman administration
in July 1945 also turned a deaf ear to a recommendation made
by a group of scientists at the Manhattan Engineer District's

Metallurgical Laboratory, who had concluded:

" In the absence of an international authority which would

make all resort to force in international conflicts impossible,



nations could still be diverted from a path which must lead

to total mutual destruction, by a specific international’

. (8
agreement barring a nuclear armament race." )

Why were these proposals rejected, or not even considered?
The answer to this question can be found in the processes of
the evolution of the wartime Manhattan Project, for the
decisions made by a few top leaders of the two administrations
and the measures taken by the Manhattan Engineer District
offer clues by which to identify the path they paved, and
why they rejected such proposals. Three salient factors
seem to offer the reasons, which together constitute the
major factors in determining U.S. nuclear policy.

First, the wartime collaboration in the development of
the atomic bomb between the U.S. and Britain, senior and
junior partners in the secret atomic alliance, experienced
political vieissitudes of harmonies and conflicts in their
‘respective national interests, especially in the wider
perspectives of a postwar world. The other side of the coin
was the consistent exclusion from their joint project of the
Soviet Union, the other partner of the wartime ''grand
alliance," to the point of blacking out even the simple
knowledge of the existence of such a project. France was
also barred from any claims to participation.

Second, the politics of the atomic bomb project bears
the marked evidence of the wartime raw materials strategy

and overseas intelligence operations. The former was pursued



by the British-American Governments in the clandestine
cornering of uranium ores, and even of thorium supplies,

with the aim of depriving the Soviet Union of any_chance to
obtain materials for its own possible atomic development in
any areas of the world other than its own territory. The
intelligence operations were directed against the Nazis,
concurrently designed to ensure that German nuclear resources
fall into neither the hands of the Soviet Union nor of France.
Furthermore, thé strategy and operations are of contemporary
significance. They reveal the éxtent to which the U.S. and
British Governments actually achieved or even sought to
achieve their.aims, by wielding powér over areas and countries
rich in uranium deposits and monazite sands, using the
various channels available under the then existing multi-
layered structures of domination of colonies and dependencies,
‘and with a view to the contribution the actual steps taken
would make in orientating the subsequentdeyelopment of atomic
energy in different countries.

Then, the same irresistible driving force--economic,
political, military, and ideological--which had enabled the
U.S. to emerge as a dominant world power during and after
World War II, seems to have dictated the prime considera-
tions in the formulation of U.S. nuclear policy. Roosevelt
left undone the major task of translating the commitments

he had already made and the works he had authorized into an



official nuclear policy. But the logic of atomic bomb
supremacy inherent in the Manhattan Project began to assert
itself as the bomb came closer to being a realityk with the
policy makers beginning to see the bomb as an increasingly
assured element in the conduct of politics in the world
arena. All that Truman could do at best, within the limits
set by his unprepared assumption of the ﬁresidency, was to
follow the course already set by his predecessor, thereby
adding to the atomic legacy. The overriding factor in
policy considerations was for the U.S. to retain a monopoly
of atomic weapons for as long as possible, and, in anticipation
of the time when such a position could no longer be main-
tained, to get as far ahead as possible of other potential
nuclear powers. By far the most pressing task for the new
president was therefore to complete the bomb as a real weapon
that could be counted on as a sure instrument of policy.
This required that it be tested not only in its mechanics
but also in its efficiency when used against living targets.(g)
This would mean that the bomb must make its debut on the
world stage, thus fulfilling a significant political role
by its performance, while at the same time giving rise to
great moral and juridical implications.

Before any nuclear policy could be officially formulated,

deeds had spoken.. In other words, postwar U.S. nuclear

policy was to be formed only as justification and ratifica-



tion of the historical heritage of the wartime Manhattan

Project. What we attempt in this essay is an analysis of

the three factors set out above.(lo)

II. ANGLO-AMERICAN COLLABORATION IN ATOMIC BOMB DEVELOPMENT
IT-1. INITIAL INTERCHANGE

Anglo-American collaboration in the development of the

atomic bomb began with a July 8, 1940, Aide-memoire of the

British Ambassador to Washington, in which Lord Lothian
proposed to President Roosevelt an immediate, general inter-
change of secret technical information, specifically on the

(11) Under the resulting

technology of ultra short wave radio.
agreement, a visiting British mission in the autumn of that
yvear arranged for a partial exchange of information with
the American National Defense Research Committee (NDRC).(lz)
In April, Britain inaugurated the ''Maud Committee'" (Military
Application of Uranium Disintegration) and, according to the
official history, moved several months ahead of the U.S. in

(13)

both theory and research. In November, the papers and

minutes of the Maud Committee reached the Committee on Uranium,
their American counterpart, then under the NDRC.(14) An

NDRC delegation, led by James B. Conant, president of Harvard

University, visited London during March and April 1941, when



the machinery of collaboration was completed and exchange
scientific offices were set up in the respective capitals.
Lend-Lease, a virtual American commitment to the war against
Germany, became law, creating an atmosphere favorable to

the Conant mission in London, but the British were unwilling
to turn over to the Americans all the findings of their
basic nuclear research.(ls)

The formal exchange of information began only after
Vannevar Bush, president of the Carnegie Institution and
concurrently chairman of NDRC, succeeded in persuading
Roosevelt to set up the Office of Scientific Research and
Development (OSRD) by Executive Order of June 28, 1941.
Under the directorship of Bush, the»OSRD incorporated the
NDRC in its apparatus, and was charged with the task of
mobilizing the scientific resources and applying the results
of research to national defense, while at the same time
serving "as the central liaison office" for the conduct of
scientific research for other countries.(16)

The Maud Committee report which Bush and Conant received
in July from the MDRC's London offices was one of the two
factors, along with an improved prospect achieved at home
for the military use of plutonium, which convinced these
science administrators that some direct use could be made

of atomic energy in the ongoing war. At the beginning of

August 1941, Bush and Conant proposed to Charles Darwin,



head of the British CentralkScientific Office in Washington
the setting up of a small, joint technical committee with a
single council to advise the two Governments on pplicy.(17)
In August 1941, the Atlantic Charter shed new light on
the postwar world as envisioned by Roosevelt and Churchill.
At the White House on October 9, Bush sought Presidential
support, on the basis of the Maud report, for an advanced
research program, and in keeping with the Anglo-American
cooperation foreseen under the Atlantic Triangle, Roosevelt
suggested that joint engineering'work on an atomic bomb might
be necessary with Britain, on Canadian soil. The President
emphasized tight secrecy, and restriéted policy considera-
tions to himself, Henry Wallace‘(Vice—President), Bush,
Conant, Henry L. Stimson (Secretary of War), and George C.
Marshall (Army Chief of Staff), who were assumed to constitute
the "Top Policy Group," over all such administrative organs
as OSRD.(18) . |
In an October letter drafted by Bush, Roosevelt suggested
to Churchill that they exchange views '"in order that any
extended efforts may be coordinated or even jointly con-

ducted.”(lg)

Churchill was slow to reply; he replied after
Pearl Harbor, with a vague general assurance of Britain's

npeadiness to collaborate with the United States Administra-
tion in this matter.”(zo)

The Scientific Advisory Committee of the British Cabinet



had earlier recommended that a decision on the location of
the full-scale uranium separation plant was not urgeht,

that is, under the joint efforts of Britain, Canaqa, and

(21) P.M.S. Blackett had issued a minority report

(22)

the U.S.
favoring the construction of such a plant in the U.S.,
but the majority had feared that the fusion of efforts
could make the U.S. the sole nuclear power, and they favored
building the plant in England or Canada, to ensure Britain's
independence. At the end of November 1941, Sir John Anderson,
chairman of the newly formed Tube Alloys [Britain's new code
name for the atomic bomb] Consultative Council, informed
Frederick L. Hovde, U.S. scientific 1iaison officer in
London, that His Majesty's Governmeﬁt was anxious to col-
laborate with the U.S., but implied reluctance on the grounds
of Britain's anxiety over the possible 'leakage" of informa-
tion to the enemy by the Americans.(zs)

The British thus missed at least two appropriate opportu-
nities for a joint Anglo-American project. They were too
sure of their initial lead over the Americans in uranium
research to respond positively and promptly to the Bush-
Conant feelers about a joint project.

Early in 1942, some British scientists visiting the U.S.
found that while Britain was pursuing only one method of
production of fissile material, viz., gaseous diffusion,

the Americans were working on three possible methods, electro-
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magnetic, gas centrifuge, and gaseous diffusion, in addition
to exploring the possibilities of producing plutonium.
American resources put into the project were vastly greater
than the British. By the late spring of 1942, tﬁe U.S. had
drawn level and was surpassing the British.(24)

In June, further discussions took place between Roosevelt
and Churchill on collaboration in the bomb project. A research
plant for uranium isotope separation was to be built not in
the British Isles but in the U.S. ©No letters were exchanged
on this agreement, however, during the second U.S.-U.K. war
council in Washington.(zs)

The Tube Alloys Consultative Council persisted in the
vain hope of maintaining an independent project, but in
July 1942, Britain's inability to bear the enormous cost of
building a full-scale plant under wartime conditions had to
_be admitted, and it was decided to '"throw in their lot with
the Americans.”(ZG)

In June 1942, the American project was at the transition
stage, moving from research to engineering. The Army started
what was called the "DSM Project'" (Development of Substitute
Materials), to take over process development, engineering
design, materials procurement, and industrial site selection,
and Bush appointed an "S-1 [American code name for atomic

bomb] Executive Committee,'" of which Conant was chairman, to

supervise all OSRD work. In August the Army opened an
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administrative office in New York, with the title: '""Manhattan
Engineer District.”(27)
In September, the Top Policy Group set up a '"Military
Policy Committee" to undertake planning on materials, research,
development, and production, plus strategy and tactics.
Responsible for the Top Policy Group, the Military Policy
Committee included top-level representatives from the OSRD,
the Army and the Navy, with Bush chairman and Conant his
alternate. Brig. Gen. Leslie R. Groves was placed in command
of the DSM Project on September 23, and sat with the Military

Policy Committee.(zs)

II-2. CONFLICTS AND COLLABORATION

Early in August 1942,'John Anderson, in accord with
decisions made in late July by the Tube Alloys Consultative
Council, informed Bush that the construction of a gaseous
diffusion plant in Britain was out of the duestion because
of the difficulties of wartime production, and in the light
of possible German air raids against Britain. Sir John
proposed that the Americans consider the possiblities of
setting up a British gas diffusion pilot plant in the U.S.,
adding British members to Conant's S-1 Executive Committee,
setting up a British Tube Alloys liaison office in the U.S.

and transferring to Canada the French scientific team under
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(29)

Hans von Halban, then studying heavy water in Britain.
Having already done ten times as much work as Britain,
the Americans had lost interest in increasing bilateral
collaboration. The British certainly had the base for a
take-off into full technological development, but "it was

(30) Differences in the ability to mobilize

only a base."
the necessary resources and in the progress achieved had
widened the gap between those responsible for the projects

on the two sides of the Atlantic.

First, in diffusion engineering and in a heavy water
pile, the Americans were now unwilling to acknowledge a
British role in any further development of the gas centrifuge
and electro-magnetic methods of uranium separation, and of
the graphite pile. Then too, the Americans had introduced
tighter security measures, extending even to the compart-
mentalising of Manhattan Project scientists, and accordingly
liaison connections with the British were restricted.
Differences were conspicuous, above all, in the principles
governing interchanges between the science administrators
of the two projects. The American position was that infor-
mation could be given only on a ''need-to-know'" basis, which,
in practice, meant only what the British were already working
on and could make use of during World War II. The sole
reason Washington gave for restriction was security. The

British, however, demanded full access to all large-scale
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developments in the U.S., asserting that the progress in
any given method for the production of fissile materials
would directly affect other possible methods.(Sl)
Behind all these troubles was a conflict of interests
between the authorities of the two nations over the possible
implications the wartime progress of_military science and
technology might have on postwar affairs. In fact, the
British insisted that they were entitled to have full
scientific-technological know-how to manufacture the bomb,
which might be '"the main really effective police weapon"
to keep peace in Europe on their terms after the war.(32)
The September 29, 1942 ”Anglo—SoViet Agreement on the
Exchange of New Weapons'" that came to Stimson's attention
for the first time in December, stiffened the American
resistance to interchanges. Roosevelt concurred in the
opinion of the Secretary of War, that it would not be wise
to enter into a similar agreement with the Soviets.(33)
Then, on December 28, the President accepted Bush's recommen-
dation for restricting interchanges with the British.
The new American policy included: (1) no information on the
electro-magnetic method or on the bomb design work at Los
Alamos; (2) the likely continuation of interchanges between
the British and the American companies engaged in the design

and construction of gaseous diffusion plants should not go

beyond an exchange of scientific information on the manu-



14

facture of plutonium and heavy water. So negotiations
between the Manhattan Project leaders and the Tube Alloys
authorities came to a total deadlock.(34)
In a communication to the White House on March 31, 1943,
Bush for the first time expressed a suspicion that the
British might be aiming at postwar commercial interests in

(35)

the development of nuclear power plants. More than

Bush's suspicion, which, according to the official history,(36)
was groundless, the British seemed to have a stronger motive
for fuller atomic exchanges bn the grounds that while
immediate, independent development was considered impossible,
the U.K. could not "afford after the war to face the future
without this (atomic) weapon, and rely entirely on America

(37)  phe

should Russia or some other power develop it."
desperate need for the British to institute full interchanges
was behind the idea of the "independent deterrent...already

well entrenched.”(38)

Hence, instead of going alone, the
U.K. chose to try to go along with the U.S. as closely as
possible, at least until such time as it could mount an
independent A-bomb effort.

With the surrender of the German Sixth Army to the
Soviets at Stalingrad as the turning point, the military
balance in the European theater shifted decisively in favor

of the Allies. Judging that Britain's military predicament

had ended in Europe, Churchill was in a position in January
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1943 at Casablanca to agree with Roosevelt on an ''uncon-
ditional surrender" formula to present to the Axis Powers.
Post-Nazi considerations began to assert themselves
increasingly in the minds of the two leaders.
In these circumstances, early in 1943 Churchill launched
a tenacious compaign to break through the U.S. secrecy
impasse, to win an advantage for Britain. At Casablanca
and on many later occasions through Harry Hopkins, and on
his own visit to the White House in May, the British Prime
Minister pressed the President, directly and indirectly,
in both straightforward and conciliatory terms, for a resump-
tion of full interchanges.(Bg)
In July, when Stimson was pressing Churchill in London
for an early execution of cross-Channel second front opera-
tions and Bush was attending meetings of the War Cabinet's
anti-U-boat Committee, in talks with Churchill, John Anderson
and Lord Cherwell, Churchill's scientific advisor on Tube
Alloys, the Americans still defended their position of

restricted interchanges.(40)

Nevertheless, Roosevelt had
made a decision in Washington in favor of the British demand.
Hopkins on July 20 wrote the President: "I think you
made a firm commitment to Churchill in regard to this [full

interchange ] when he waé here [probably on May 25] and

there is nothing to do but go through with ig. (41

Roosevelt wrote to Bush (who was then in London) at his
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Washington office, that he would "renew, in an inclusive
manner, the full exchange of information' with the British.(42)
Churchill's tactics of bypassing the Manhattan Project

top bureaucrats and persuading Roosevelt through his most

dependable aide seemed to have achieved a satisfactory

result for Britain.  Roosevelt distinguished between the

diplomatic and the scientific-technological aspects of the

bomb, and split his aides accordingly. That the decision

to resume full Anglo-American interchanges was made without

any consultation with the top officials of the Manhattan

Project indicates how highly political the decision was.(43)
At the time when Roosevelt and Stimson, against Churchill's

adamant opposition, were moving toward earlier cross-Channel

operations, in which Washington wanted to place an American

general in command of the British troops, the prolongation

of the Anglo-American conflict over the atomic bomb partner-

ship could have threatened relations within the Atlantic

(44) Or, at a time when

alliance against the Axis powers.
U.S. and U.K. relations with the Soviet Union were deterio-
rating,(45) Roosevelt's decision to resume full inter-
changes with Britain might be taken as one indication of
the President's change from a postwar blueprint of '"four
policemen"; viz. U.S., Britain, China, and the Soviet Union,
(46)

to a position of only the first two as policemen.

Perhaps both views were relevant to Roosevelt's decision,
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but seen in the light of Roosevelt's actual proposal made
to Stalin at Tehran on the concept of "four policemen,'"
it seems more logical to cbnclude that this concept was
conceived as a broader world-wide policing framework, along
with the 'two policemen" idea of the U.S. and Britain as the
central core within that broader framework. In other words,
the two ideas, "four policemen" and '"two policemen," together
formed but one concept in Roosevelt's plan for the postwar
world, with the U.S., needless to say, having the overriding
leadership.

In examining the closer Anglo-American relations in
this specific field of atomic bomb dévelopment at this
particular point, the Soviet victor§ at Stalingrad seems to
provide a decisive clue for the. better understanding of
relations between the U.S. and U.K. on one hand, and the
U.S.-U.K. bloc and the U.S.S.R., on the other. The '"grand
alliance" of the three powers was based on exigencies created
by the Nazis. As this threat began to fade, the question
of Soviet Communism and the possible extension of its influ-
ence over Europe began to haunt the world envisioned by the
leaders of both the U.S. and U.K. as coming in the wake of
defeat of the Nazis. The urgent need of the Soviets to have
the U.S. and U.K. open the second front in Europe had been
postponed, due mainly to Churchill's strategy of first

securing those areas that were likely to affect the fate
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of the British empire, especially in North Africa and the
Mediterranean.

The Soviet ambassadors to both Washington and London
had been called back to Moscow during the spring énd summer
of 1943. Even a Russo-American summit meeting, which
Roosevelt had instructed Joseph E. Davies to arrage with
Stalin for the summer of that year,(47) had to be postponed
indefinitely, due, in the main, to the deteriorating U.S.-
Soviet relations over the second front issue. (Churchill was
opposed to any such meetings taking place without him.)
Amidst the alarming deterioration of relations between
Washington and Moscow, the formation of the '"Free Germany"
movement in Moscow and elsewhere became a growing concern to
Washington, along with rumors which spread in some capitals
of Northern Europe, about "a separate Russo-German Armi-

_stice."(48)

The fact was, however, that in July the Red

Army launched the longest, most sustained military offensives
against the Nazis. American leaders then Became worried
about the postwar political consequences that might result

in Europe if action by the Anglo-Americans should lag behind

(49) The Americans

the Soviet military offensives there.
had almost decided to carry out the cross-Channel operation
in 1944, and the May 1943 Washington conference set the

1st of May 1944 as the target date. Meanwhile, a compromise

measure, on which the U.S. was able to win British approval
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in the August 1943 Quebec conference, was a military
operation plan called "Rankin," designed to cope with
possible Soviet military superiority in Europe thgt might
result from the delay of Anglo-American forces in opening
the second front.

Any political arrangements that might emerge out of the
war would have to reflect the ultimate outcome. While the
ongoing military operations continued, with his staff left
to work out solutions to the extremely conflicting economic
and political problems that existed, especially between
the U.S. and the U.K., Roosevelt seemed to have set about
tightening the relations of the two hations to be in immedi-
ate readiness to meet any possible Soviet challenge in the
postwar world. In this context, the atomic alliance Churchill
had so earnestly asked for could well be considered one of
,tﬁe most powerful instruments at Roosevelt's disposal in
making his British ally more pliable, and at the same time
in consolidating their still tacit, covert alliance in
dealing with the Soviet Union. Nevertheless, the atomic
alliance of thé two by no means precluded either Roosevelt
or Churchill from following their respective strategies of
pragmatic cooperation with Moscow wherever such was deemed
necessary, as later events in Tehran and Yalta were to testify.(so)

But the prime factor that seems to provide the under-

lying motive for Roosevelt's decision for a secret, Anglo-
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American atomic alliance, was the impending Soviet threat
in Europe, as he perceived it. His decision appears to be
much more significant than is generally assessed, for it
clearly set the overall political framework, beyond which

no nuclear policy could be formulated.
II1-3. THE QUEBEC AGREEMENT

- Signed at Quebec by Roosevelt and Churchill on August
19, 1943, this was entitled, "Articles of Agreement govern-
ing collaboration between the authorities of the U.S.A.
and the U.K. in the matter of Tube Alloys' (the Quebec
Agreement).(sl) Affirming that the earliest possible
fruition of the bomb project was '"vital to our common
safety in the present war," the two leaders agreed that
their countries would not use the bomb against each other,
that they would not use it against third parties wilthout
each other's consent, and that neither would pass on any
information about the bomb to third parties except by mutual
agreement. In view of the far heavier burden of production
falling upon the U.S. as the result of a wise division of
the war effort, postwar advantages of an industrial or
commercial character should be dealt with 'as between the
United States and Great Britain on terms to be specified by

the President of the United States to the Prime Minister
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of Great Britain." Churchill expressly disclaimed "any
interest in these industrial and commercial aspectsvbeyond
what may be considered by the President of the United
States to be fair and just and in harmony with the economic
welfare of the world." To ensure full and effective col-
laboration between the two countries in completing the bomb,
a Combined Policy Committee (CPC) was set up in Washington,
with three American, two British and one Canadian member,
whose function was to determine the program of work in the
two countries, keep all sections of the project under
constant review, allocate materials, apparatus and plant
that were in limited supply, and settle questions in

(52) Regulating interchanges in the fields of

dispute.
design, construction and operation of large-scale plants
were subsequently controversial '"ad hoc arrangements."

It was in December 1943 when such working arrangements were
agreed upon at long last by the CPC,(53) followed by the
placing of fifty or so British scientists and engineers in
the Manhattan Project.(54)

Nevertheless, the Combined Policy Committee met "only
eight times" from the time of its inauguration until the
bombing of Japan's two cities. Contrary to British disire,
the committee did not exercise ''general oversight'" of the

Manhattan Project, for the American members would have

accepted no substantial modifications of the policy they
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had set. What the committee could take up at best were
matters well below highest level, "in which a combined
policy was possible.'" Draft policy decisions were usually
prepared by the American Military Policy Committee, which
used to meet prior to the combined body. This was one of
the '"facts of life' the British members were soon to learn
and had to accept if they were to start their own postwar
project. The harvest thus reaped by the British included
more knowledge of gaseous diffusion technology, nearly
complete knowledge of electro-magnetic separation and bomb

manufacturing know—how.(55)

11-4. COMBINED DEVELOPMENT TRUST

As the bomb project proceeded, the need for uranium
ore became a major concern of the Manhattan Engineer Dis-
trict. In May 1943, Groves set himself the task of esti-
mating global uranium deposits, and on June 24, the Militafy
Policy Committee approved Groves's plan to secure control
of all possible uranium resources. In a report sent to
Roosevelt, who was conferring with Churchill in Quebec in
August, Groves said that while immediate demand for uranium
could be met from stocks on hand or under contract in the
U.S. and Canada, the possible drain on North America in

postwar years would make it necessary to control the major
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(56)

source of supply in the Belgian Congo. Groves then
unsuccessfully attempted to persuade the Union Miniere du
Haut Katanga to re-open the flooded Shinkolbwe Mine and
sell the total product to the U.S. Aware that Britain
wielded a major influence on Belgian policy, and controlled
some thirty per cent of the Union Miniere's stock, the
Military Policy Committee decided to make a joint approach
with Britain to the Belgian Government-in-Exile. The Com-
bined Policy Committee in December 1943 agreed to undertake
the necessary preparations for this action.
In a report to the President dated February 4, 1944,
Groves informed Roosevelt of the Military Policy Committee's
recommendation for the U.S. and Britain to secure long-
term exclusive rights over the uranium ores in the Belgian
Congo, while at the same time striving to corner other sources.
‘When Bush took up the problem with the President on February
15, Roosevelt was so interested that he asked for a map of
the Congo with the uranium mines marked. fhe President
approved the ore project as recommended by the Military
Policy Committee, after which the recommendation was rati-
fied by the Combined Policy Committee.(®7?)
In February, the Committee adopted a draft agreement
for reference to the governments of the U.S., the U.K. and

Canada. On June 13, this was formalized as the '"Agreement

and Declaration of Trust," signed by Roosevelt and Churchill.
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A Combined Development Trust, made up of six representa-
tives of the U.S., the U.K., and Canada, was set up in
Washington under the Combined Policy Committee.(5§)
Canada was omitted as a Signatory, as in the case of the
Quebec Agreement.(sg)
The Combined Development Trust aimed at monopoly acqui-
sition of fissionable materials by exerting '"its best en-
deavours to gain control of and develop the production of
uranium and thorium supplies situated in certain areas other
than the areas under the jurisdiction of the two Governments,
and of the Governments of the Dominions and of India and
of Burma..." Thorium was now added to uranium, making the

(60) This

global strategic task of the trust even vaster.
raw materials strategy will be discussed in greater detail

in chapter III.

I1-5. THE ROOSEVELT-CHURCHILL '"AIDE-MEMOIRE"

The most important political document in terms not only
of Anglo-American collaboration, but also as regards over-
all global strategy involved in the development of atomic
bombs, is the "Aide-Memoire'" initiated by Roosevelt and
Churchill at Hyde Park, New York, on September 18, 1944,
during talks they held following the Second Quebec Con-

ference.(Gl)
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"When a 'bomb' is finally available," it said, "it
might perhaps, after mature consideration, be used against
the Japanese, who should be warned that this bombardment
will be repeated until their surrender." Herein is re-

vealed an important assumption, which remained implicit
right to this point. Although the "Aide-Memoire' can by no
means be regarded as a deliberate, final decision, Churchill
was later to admit(62) that the agrument for the use of
atomic bombs against Japan was never countered. It should
be recalled in this connection that as early as May (prob-
ably on the 5th) 1943 the Military Policy Committee had
concluded that the Japanese fleet concentration at Truk
would be the best target for the first bomb, and in June
Roosevelt and Bush talked about 'the possible use [of the
atomic bomb] against Japan, or the Japanese fleet,”(63)
After the Tehren conference in November 1943, when Stalin
agreed to eventual Soviet participation in the war against
Japan, the American military planners worked out an overall
plan for the defeat of Japan, confirming that the main war
efforts against Japan would be made in the Pacific.(64)
And at the Second Quebec conference, Roosevelt and Churchill
approved a revised overall plan for the defeat of Japan, with
the intention of invading the Japanese home islands. It was
estimated that Japan's defeat would come within 18 months
after the defeat of Germany.(65)

When Roosevelt asked Bush at the White House on September

22, 1943, whether the bomb should be used against the
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Japanese or be tested in the U.S. and used as a threat,
Roosevelt clearly had in mind the potential diplomatic
value of atomic bombs. The fact that Roosevelt raised this
question, though not necessarily expecting any definite
answer from his science administrator, who had not been con-
sulted on the subject, seems to confirm that the diplomatic
value of the bomb was the crux of the thinking of both the
President and the Prime Minister.(66)
Indeed, they flatly rejected Niels Bohr;s suggestion
that '"the world [Bohr meant the Soviet Union] should be in-
formed regarding tube alloys, with a view to an inter-
national agreement regarding its control and use." The
Danish physicist had vainly tried td convince them that the
U.S. and the U.K. should try for an agreement with the
Soviets on postwar control of atomic energy, after informing
Stalin about the development of atomic bombé, but without

divulging any technological details.(67)

Roosevelt and
Churchill went so far as "to ensure that he [Bohr] is respon-
sible for no leakage of information particularly to the

(68) The concern of the two leaders here was

Russians."
their Soviet '"ally."

Roosevelt and Churchill reconfirmed furthermore that
the existing Anglo-American collaboration "in developing

tube alloys for military and commercial purposes should

continue after the defeat of Japan unless and until termi-
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nated by joint agreement."

Roosevelt perhaps went a little further than his politics
with Churchill would have mandated him to do. At Quebec, the
two leaders had found the way to consideration of the scope
and scale of Lend-Lease in Britain's Stage II, by initialing
an agreement.(ag) By this the Americans aimed to curb the
British drive toward recovery of its export markets, in
exchange for some wider application of America's Lend-Lease
aid to Britain during Stage II. Planning for the postwar
world was at its height. The United Nations Conference at
Bretton Woods, New Hampshire, in July, had adopted the Arti-
cles of Agreement of the International Monetary Fund and the
International Bank for Reconstructién and Development, and
the Dumbarton Oaks Conference was drawing up a blueprint of
the world political organization. Following up Normandy,
Anglo-American forces were advancing in Europe and else-
where, as was also the Red Army.

Even in fhe light of these broader developments, Roose-
velt's commitment to Churchill went far beyond any concep-
tion of his advisors on the atomic bomb, who would certainly
have opposed making such a full commitment to Churchill,
had they known of it. Roosevelt went (or Churchill pushed
him) further also than the considerable leeway the President
had enjoyed at home. Full, indefinite collaboration with

Britain was clearly at variance with the consistent American



28

drive to hold a nuclear monololy, as suggested by previous
events. Until it was tested in July and actually used in
August 1945, the atomic bomb was still an uncertain factor,
but the commitment Roosevelt made was actually in antici-
pation of the atomic diplomacy to follow the completion of
the bomb, rather than to an apparently even firmer atomic
alliance with Britain as America's junior partner; though,
in the inexorable logic of the Quebec Agreement, it was
obviously to deal with the other partner of the '"grand

alliance" in a world under planning and in the making.

II-6. FRENCH SCIENTISTS

Ever since Joliot-Curie had sent Hans von Halban and
L. Kowarski over to England from Nazi-occupied Paris in 1940
with their cans of heavy water, Britain and Canada owed to
them their approaches made to the slow neutron pile. Five
French scientists were at Montreal in the British project
in Canada at various times: four of them form the beginning,
early in 1943, and one from the summer of 1944.(70) In
addition to specific contrasts with these scientists, Britain

had '"certain wider agreements or undertakings" with them,(71)

including patents agreements with Halban and Kowarski,(72)

the oral assurance given by Sir John Anderson to Jules Gueron
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for postwar French rights to knowledge and arrangements
about the bomb project, and Britain's general hope for post-

(73) In contrast to their ex-

war cooperation with France.
plicit and specific undertakings to the Americans, the
British commitments to the French were rather vague and
pragmatic.

Problems arose in October 1944 when Halban asked for
permission to visit London, which would certainly entail a
trip beyond to Paris. The temporary home-coming trip to
France made the same month by Gueron had displeased Groves
and the Manhattan District officials, who were furious with
the British, on the ground that their liberality with the
French scientists constituted a violation of the Quebec
Agreement on strictures against third party communication.(74)

The problem of the French scientists was political,
first and foremost. There was grave danger, John Anderson
wrote to the American authorities, that the French, '"through
Mr. Joliot or possibly through de Gaulle, instigated by Joliot,"
might press for immediate participation in the bomb project.(75)
The American position on the matter was that '"it was impos-
sible to let the French into the matter," as had already
been reconfirmed between Roosevelt and Stimson on December
30, 1944,(76) and the Secretary of War rejected any offer of
assurance that would commit the U.S. Government itself to a

(77)

nuclear role for France.
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In the Yalta talks with Roosevelt about France, Church-
ill was '"shocked...when the President in a casual manner
spoke of revealing the secret to Stalin on the grounds that
de Gaulle, if he heard of it, would certainly double-cross
us with Russia." The Prime Minister dissuaded the President
from so doing. For '"even six months will make a difference,"
Churchill thought, ''should it come to a show-down with Rus-

w(78) Pursuit of the secret

sia, or indeed with de Gaulle.
Anglo-American monopoly of atomic bombs remained unaltered,
at least till the time of Roosevelt's death. Both Roose-
velt and Churchill knew that they could not keep the Anglo-
American atomic alliance forever secret, but their policy
was to go ahead with monopolistic development, testing, and

deployment, leaving the Soviets and the French as far behind

as possible.

IIT. THE RAW MATERIALS STRATEGY AND INTELLIGENCE
OPERATIONS OVERSEAS

III-1. THE RAW MATERIALS STRATEGY

The clandestine raw materials operations carried out by

the Combined Development Trust is more important than it is
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generally understood to have been, representing, as it did,
the material basis of the drives of the Anglo—American atomic
partnership toward consolidating its control in this field.(79)
As revealed by the events that led to the establishment of
the Trust, the raw materials strategy had dual aims: (1) as
far as possible to conserve uranium "supplies in North Amer-
ica," particularly those in the U.S.(SO) by securing stable
supplies overseas; and (2) to deny to other countries, the
Soviet Union in particular, access to fissionable materials
outside their own territory, should they embark on the develop-
ment of atomic energy.

The first of such operations resulted in the successful
cornering of uranium ores in the Beigian Congo, then con-
sidered to be the largest deposits of the highest grade in
the world.(81) Involved in these arrangements was a four-
layer structure of power relations, with the U.S., itself
rich in uranium deposits, along with Britain, its junior
partner which had substantial supplies in Canada, controlling
the independent scientific development of Belgium, the sup-
plier, which in turn sold out the assets of the people of its
colony, the Congo.

As the experiments in the spring of 1944 had shown the
possibility of multiplying uranium-233 in breeder piles,
thorium was then considered by Washington likely to become

a major raw material for atomic energy within a matter of a
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few years. The Combined Development Trust therefore took

measures to secure control of the important deposits(82)

in Brazil,(ss) in the Indian State of Travancore,(84) and

(85

in the Dutch East Indies, ) even though there was a con-
siderable dispersal of thorium, and therefore difficult to
corner.

Sweden was known to geologists as having "deposits of
k&1lm,'" a hardened asphalt-like substance used for fuel, and

(86)

0il shale. An on-site investigation made by a British

official geologist had established an estimated amount of
uranium oxide in Sweden to be no less than 80,000 tons.(87)
In August 1945, the American representative sought Swedish
Government concurrence in the measures designed: (1) effec-
tively to control uranium bearing materials in Sweden for
years; (2) to prevent export of such materials '"except with
the consent of the two Governments,'" U.S. and U.K.; and

(3) to give the two Governments the "right of first refusal
on the uranium content of the Swedish supply" of such mate-

(88) However, negotiations with the Swedish Government

(89

rials.
proved to be a complete failure, ) as the Swedish Foreign
Minister replied(go) that: (1) the Swedish Government,
"without the knowledge and assent of the Riksdag [two House
Parliament], or at any rate of the Utrikesndmnd" (Foreign

Affairs Committee of the Riksdag), would not enter into an

agreement with the U.S. and U.K. Governments along the lines
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propésed; (2) political considerations made it "impossible
for the Swedish Government to put an option on uranium
materials, by means of a secret agreement, in the hands
exclusively of two of the great powers of the world."
Beginning with the acquisition of uranium ores in the
Belgian Congo in autumn 1944, and intensifying its raw
materials operations around the time of the atomic bombing
éf Hiroshima and Nagasaki, the Combined Development Trust
by the end of 1945 had gained control of "97% of the world's

n(91)

uranium output from presently producing countries. Of

thorium, the Trust group of nations controlled 'about 65%

(92)  After Hiroshima

of the world supply in India and Brazilﬂ
and Nagasaki, the Trust continued its operations in Portugal
to secure ''complete control of the uranium deposits" in that
country. Only the Soviet Union, and possibly Sweden, were
considered capable of challenging the dominant status of the
U.S. and the U.K. in the near future in terms of resources
and industrial power. The Trust had concluded that in the
Soviet Union "there was no evidence of any high—grade deposits."
The policy of the Trust was to "try and secure exclusive con-
trol of all deposits and supplies of raw materials wherever
they might be situated.”(gs)

The agreements concluded and negotiations held admitted-
ly reveal that the U.S. and the U.K. pretended themselves
to be the sole defenders of civilization (agreement with

Belgium); that they went far beyond normal commercial prac-

tices, even to the point of dictating to other governments



34

on the disposition of their national products (agreement
with Brazil and conditions proposed in the unsuccessful
negotiations with Sweden); and that, in all this, their
target was to deny to the Soviets any possibility of early
development of atomic energy, and to block similar possi-

bilities in other countries as well.

I1I-2. INTELLIGENCE OPERATIONS OVERSEAS

The Manhattan Engineer District carried out extensive,
covert intelligence operations, especially in Italy, France,
and Germany, from the autumn of 1943 by its secret hands,
"MED Scientific Intelligence (Alsos) Mission." These opera-
tions had dual aims: (1) to ascertain the level of research
and development in atomic energy that was assumed to have
been conducted by the German scientists under the Nazis,
and, when the Nazis fell, to deprive them of all intellectual
and_material resources in this field, (2) to keep these
resources from falling into Soviet hands.(94)

When Groves found out that the French Army's expected
zone of advance included Hechingen, where Werner Heisenberg's
uranium work had been in progress, he did not hesitate to

take measures to see that the U.S. troops arrived at Hechingen

and Haigerloch before the French Army. What his hands did
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there was to capture and interrogate the German scientists

and engineers who had worked there, seize and remove-their
records, and obliterate all remaining facilities. Anything
that might be of "interest to the Russians,'" Groves writes,(gs)
should by no means be allowed to be acquired by the French.
They had soon located also about 1,200 tons of uranium ore

in Strassfurt, which had been removed from Belgium.(ga)

IV. THE BOMB AS INSTRUMENT OF POLICY

IV-1. The Bomb Quid Pro Quo

In contrast to the fruition of the U.S. atomic partner-
ship with Britain, and to the measures jointly taken to
‘monopolize source materials, Washington was slow to draft
a program for handling the severe political problems arising
from nuclear weapons.

After the White House meeting with the President on
September 22, 1944, Bush was later to tell Stimson that
Roosevelt intended to maintain the Anglo-American atomic
alliance even after the war, a step which Bush feared would
cause the Soviets to speed up development of the bomb and

give rise to a disastrous atomic arms race. This convinced
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(97)

Bush of the need to implement postwar policy planning.
Bush and Conant, in their memorandum of September 30,
1944 to the Secretary of War, were the first in the Manhattan
Engineer District to point out the necessity to work out an

international nuclear policy and to delineate the outline
(98)

of such a policy. In view of both the present and
future military potentialities, the two science adminis-
trators pointed out that the advantage held by the U.S. and
Britain could only be temporary, and strongly recommended
that plans be 1laid for the full unveiling of the history

of the development, everything except the manufacturing and
military details on the bombs, '"as soon as the first bomb
has been demonstrated." Contendingithat U.S.-British
attempts to carry on further developments of the bomb in
complete secrecy would '"encourage the Soviet Union" and
others to proceed in secret along the same lines, they
proposed "2 free interchange" of all scientific information
on the subject under the auspices of an international office
deriving its authority from whatever association of nations
is developed at the end of the war. As a specific measure
toward this end, they suggested taht the technical staff of
the proposed office be provided with free access in all
countries, not only to the scientific laboratories where
such work is going on, but to the military establishments

as well,.
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Whereas Niels Bohr crusaded for the wartime achieve-

ment of a modus vivendi with the Soviet Union on atomic

bombs, the Bush-Conant proposal contained no measures to be
taken either before the expected use of atomic bombs against
Japan or in the period between such use and the ending of
hostilities, but instead an outline for postwar control of
atomic energy, accompanied by international inspection.
Niels Bohr and Bush-Conant both pointed out the impossibility
of maintaining secrecy for long, and the subsequent danger
of an arms race, but the former placed the emphasis on peace
between the U.S. and U.K. and the Soviet Union, while the
latter emphasized the disclosure of fhe results of the
Manhattan Project in order to asserf the wide margin of
American superiority. Even Bohr emphasized achieving a

tripartite modus vivendi rather than non-use of the bomb.

The Committee on Postwar Policy under Richard Tolman,
appointed by the Military Policy Committee in the summer of
1944 and reported to Groves, interviewed 44 Manhattan Engi-
neer District scientists and received 37 memoranda from them
in October and November 1944. The Tolman Report thus com-
piled concluded that governing all planning on atomic energy
should be the necessity to maintain continued American
superiority. Toward this end, the Report advocated the
continuation of separation of uranium-235, the production

of plutonium-239 and uranium-233, continuation of the work
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on the development of fission weapons, and the encourage-
ment of basic research and industrial development as essen-
tial for the maintenance of the superior status in advanced
science and technology. The Tolman Committee did not comment
on international control, but envisaged the establishment of
of a government agency to be responsible for coordination of
studies and development, and for the distribution of re-

(99) A Metallurgical Laboratory Committee, with

sources.
the approval of Arthur Compton, Manhattan District project
leader in Chicago, in November 1944 issued a report known

1(100) Both the Tolman report

as '"Prospectus of Nucleonics.
and the '"Prospectus of Nucleonics" were in favor of govern-
ment support of a comprehensive posfwar nuclear energy
program, though the two papers had no immediate impact on

(101) The emphasis placed by the Tolman

policy formulation.
Report on the necessity of maintaining continued American
military superiority gave an added boost to the measures
already being taken.

The Bush-Conant proposal for an international exchange
of scientific information was received rather cautiously
in February 1945 by Stimson, whose thinking was that the

U.S. should demand liberalization in the Soviet Union as

a quid pro quo for S-1. The Secretary of War concurred with
(102)

Bush on an exchange in the field of bacteriology.

The real intention of the Secretary of War however, seems
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to have been to sidetrack the proposal of the two science
administrators until such time as Stimson himself could
formulate a convincing policy on atomic energy. Stimson's
resourcelessness revealed itself in talks with the President
in December 1944 and March 1945. On December 31, 1944,
Stimson told Roosevelt that, although he had no illusion
about the possibility of permanently keeping the secrets

of atomic energy, he nevertheless felt it was not yet time
to share them with the Soviets, at least until a definite

(103)

guid pro quo could be obtained from them. On March

15, 1945, the Secretary reported to the President that

there were two schools of thought on the future control of
atomic energy: one school favored the attempt by the U.S.

and the U.K. to keep secret control, while the other school
proposed international efforts based on a free exchange of
scientific information, accompanied by free access to world
atomic facilities by international inspection teams. Stimson
noted that this choice had to be faced before the first use
of atomic bombs. Although Roosevelt agreed with Stimson,

(104) On the sudden

nothing concrete was born of their talks.
death of Franklin D. Roosevelt on April 12, 1945, Harry S.

Truman was sworn into office.
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1V-2. MEASURES FOR ATOMIC MONOPOLY

In his full-scale briefing of the new President on the
Manhattan Project on April 25, the Secretary of War had no
specific nuclear policy to place before Truman. In his
memorandum for the President,(105) Stimson‘pointed out that
the U.S. and Britain had only temporary control over the
science, engineering and raw materials necessary for the
production of atomic bombs, and that, because of the very
high probability of easier and cheaper methods of production
being discovered, a small country or group of countries,
or at least a great nation, might be able to produce atomic
bombs in much shorter periods of time. Under such circum-
stances, the Secretary of War noted, control of the bomb
would unmistakably be a matter of the greatest difficulty
and would involve unprecedentedly '"thoroughgoing rights of
vinspection and internal controls." Stimson remarked that
the question of sharing the atomic bomb with other nations
had become '"a primary question'" of American foreign relations.
Groves, also present at the Truman-Stimson meeting, noted '
that a great deal of emphasis was placed on foreign rela-
tions, and "particularly on the Russian situation.”(loe)
The only specific proposal Stimson made to Truman was one
on the establishment of 'a select committee'" to recommend

action to the executive and legislative branches of the



41

government ''when secrecy is no longer in full effect," as
well as actions to be taken by the War Department prior to
that time "in anticipation of postwar problems."(107)
Whereas this select committee was appointed by the
Secretary of War with Presidential approval as an "Interim

5(108) to study and report on the

Committee" in early May 194
whole problem of temporary wartime controls and later pub-
licity, and to survey and make recommendations on '"postwar
research, development and controls, as well as legislation

n(109) it worked principally

necessary to effectuate them,
on the draft statements to be issued by the President and the
the Secretary of War after atomic bombs had been used against

(110)

Japan. In its meeting on May 31,(111) in which four

members of the scientific panel plus four others also took

(112) the committee concurred in the view

part by invitation,
expressed by James Byrnes, Truman's Secretary of State-
designate, that the most desirable program with regard to
the Soviet Union would be to push ahead as fast as possible
in production and research on the bomb to ensure that "we
stay ahead and at the same time make every effort to better
our political relations with Russia." All told, discussions
on problems of control and inspection, on Russia, and on an
international program, all converged on the same general

attitude. The obvious contradiction between maintaining

atomic supremacy and at the same time improving relations
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with the Soviet Union was not even taken into consideration.
The problem of whether the bomb should be used against
Japan did not even find a place on the agenda Stimson

presented, as chairman of the meeting.(lls)

However, at a
lunch table shared by Stimson, Byrnes, Arthur Compton,
Earnest Lawrence, Robert Oppenheimer, and Groves, Compton
asked the Secretary if something could possibly be arranged
instead of the actual use of the bomb against the Japanese.
Various possibilities were discussed in a negative way,

but apparently no one present was willing to go further

in the pursuit of alternatives to the planned use of the

(114) Then, in the afternoon séssion, Stimson opened

bomb.
discussion on the "effect of the bombing on the Japanese

and their will to fight." It was not a question of whether
or not to use the bomb against the Japanese. That foregone

d,(115) and the best brains

.conclusion remained untouche
were capitalized on, precisely to support this conclusion
without discussing it. The meeting concluded: "we could
not give the Japanese any warning; that we could not con-
centrate on a civilian area; but that we should seek to
make a profound psychological impression on as many of the
inhabitants as possible." It also '"agreed that the most
desirable target would be a vital war plantemploying a

large number of workers and closely surrounded by workers'

houses." Bush and Conant in their October 30, 1944 memo-
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randum had said that the first demonstration of the bomb

might take place over enemy territory or in the U.S.

"with subsequent notice to Japan'" that the bombs would be

used against its mainland unless it surrendered, But they

were silent even on this specific point of prior warning.
On June 1, the Interim Committee met with four business

(116) The industrial panel estimated that

representatives.
the Soviet Union would be able to catch up with the U.S.

in bomb development, perhaps in several years, much earlier
than Groves's estimate of twenty years. In the executive
session, the committee adopted James Byrnes's suggestion

as the recommendation to the Secretary of War, that the
bomb should be used as soon as possible and without warning

against a Japanese war plant surrounded by workers' homes.(117)

In terms of procedures, the uranimous conclusion(lls)
reached without ever studying the wisdom of the atomic
bombing was evidently satisfactory for Stimson, who had
prepared fully for the meetings during the previous days.

It should be recalled in this connection that at the
White House meeting with Stimson and Groves on December 30,
1944, Roosevelt had approved the report prepared by Groves
for George Marshall, that the target was Japan, and that
the 509th Composite Group had been organized and put into

(119)

training for the atomic bombing mission. A similar

plan was also approved by Truman on April 25, 1945. Three



44

days before the Interim Committee meeting, the Target Com-

mittee at its third meeting had concluded that Kyoto,

(120)

Hiroshima, and Niigata were the best targets. Groves

soon handed the Army Chief of Staff a revised recommendation

of the proposed targets, which now included Kokura, Hiroshima,

(121) And even the Scientific Panel acquisced

(122)

and Niigata.
in the planned atomic bombing. They refused to iden-
tify themselves with the Report of the Metallurgical Labo-
ratory's Franck Committee.

At this time, the overall military situation in the
Pacific was moving swiftly toward Japan‘s defeat. Okinawa
was being invaded since April, and major Japanese cities
were being subjected to massive aerial bombing. Developing
still further the overall objectives for invading and
seizing the industrial heart of Japan, as confirmed in the
Second Quebec conference, the American military strategy now
set preliminary actions for invasion as the supreme opera-
tions in the war against Japan. On June 18, Truman approved
the Joint Chiefs of Staff's plan for the invasion of Kyushu
for November. At this meeting, the suggestion that Tokyo
should receive an advance warning of the impending atomic
bombing was turned down, for nobody was sure that bomb would

k.(123) In spite of the devalued assessment of Soviet

wor
entrance into the war, pronounced by some military leaders,

William Leahv and Ernest King, among others, Truman said
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that one of his objectives for going to Berlin was to get
from the Soviets all possible assistance in the war{(124)
The Soviet entry into the war against Japan, regardless of
whether it was felt desirable for the U.S. or not, was con-
sidered by the War Deapartment as a matter to be decided by
the Russians "on their own military and political basis with
little regard to any political action taken by the United
States.”(lzs)

Earlier on the same day, Truman had turned down a sug-
gestion made by Joseph Grew, Acting Secretary of State, for
a public statement calling on Japan to surrender. The Presi-
dent said he had decided to wait and discuss the tactic at
Berlin.(lze)

On June 21, the Interim Committee deleted one sentence
from the draft statement of the President that would virtu-
ally have committed him to the pursuit of an international
agreement on control. From the draft statement by the Secre-
tary of War, references to the Quebec Agreement and various
arrangements made for securing uranium and thorium ores were

also deleted.(127)

The committee thought that a postwar
Congressional investigation would challenge certain measures
already taken. With regard to the science panel's recom-
mendation(lzs) that the allies be advised of the planned use

of atomic bombs, the Interim Committee concluded that Britain

would be asked for its approval as required by the Quebec
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Agreement, but that the approval of France and China would
be irrelevant. The President was to inform Stalin, if
there was a suitable chance, of the bomb's successful devel-
opment, and of the U.S. plan to use it against Japan.

It is to be noted in this connection that the Interim
Committee passed a unanimous resolution that the Secretary
of War be advised that the Interim Committee favored the
revocation of Clause Two of the Quebec Agreement providing
for Britain's prior approval before the use of the bombs.(lzg)
It was to be expected that such a step toward nullifying
the atomic alliance with Britain would be taken sooner or
later in the light of the facts that the bomb development
had been carried on overwhelmingly és an American project,
and that having no knowledge of the existence of the Roose-
velt-Churchill "Aide-Memoire," nobody regarded collabora-
‘tion with Britain as binding. The potential value of the
atomic bomb as an instrument of policy grew evenbgreater
as the weapon came closer to reality, and policy makers
must have found it imperative to establish not only the
de facto but also the de jure atomic monopoly of the United
States. That the Interim Committee's action took place at
this particular time should be seen in the context of the
broader political and economic objectives Washington was
vigorously seeking for the emerging postwar world. American

strategy, for instance, to secure quid pro quo from Britain
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for Lend-Lease by getting the latter to cooperate in the
implementation of the crucial Article VII of that Agfee-
ment (notably the elimination of Imperial preferepce) to
open the door of the Sterling bloc, had proved unsuccessful.
At the time of the Nazi surrender, Truman had already ter-
minated Lend-Lease aid to the Soviets and Britain except

for the war in the Pacific. Apart from the very serious
political impact this had on American-Soviet relations,

this action also represented diplomatic leverage in con-
trolling London's dollar balances and foreign trade,(lso)
with '"a chaos of uncertainties" ensuing'in the British
economy in Stage II.(131) Atomic bionlarity was not

compatible with the new line up of forces between the emer-

ging world power and the dwindling empire.

IV-3. THE BOMB AS A REALITY

In Potsdam, after receiving word of the successful atom
bomb test at Alamogordo, on July 19 Stimson wrote a memo-

(132) which he handed to Truman on July 21, pointing

randum
out that it was in no sense an official paper. For Stimson,
the problem arises out of the fundamental differences

between a nation of '"a really free people'" and a nation

"systematically controlled from above by Secret Police and
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in which free speech is not permitted.” As he saw it, there-
fore, no permanently safe international relations couid“be
established between two such fundamentally differentvnatiénal
systems, and this had "a vital bearing upon the control of
the vast and revolutionary discovery of X" [atomic enérgy].
The Secretary of War had come to believe that no world or-
ganization containing as one of its dominant members a

nation whose people are not possessed of free speech could
exercise effective control over this new agency with its
devastating possibilities. In Stimson's opinion, careful
consideration was to be given to whether the U.S. could

share its new discovery with the Soviets safely under somé
system of control until such time aé the Soviet Union |
implemented its 1936 constitution, and,thevquestion of "how
our head-start in X and the Russian desire to participate”
in the atom bomb project could be used to bring the U.S.
closer to the elimination of the basic difficulties, should
be constantly explored. ‘

This position was in sharp contrast to that of the Franck
Report which urged the cohclusion of "a specific interna-
tional agreement bérring a nuclear armaments race."

ThevAlamogordo teSt'far exceeded the earlier expecta-’
tions placed on the bomb.(133) During the Potsdam conference,
while Truman agreed with Stimson in his stand referred to’

above, he and Churchill eyed the diplomatic value of the
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bomb, though without ever placing it on the negotiating
table with the Soviets. Nor did they take any initiative
toward sharing the bomb with them. For the world to recog-
nize the existence and power of atomic bombs, the bombs had
still to be demonstrated in the most effective way possible
against living targets in Japan, so that such weapons might
be counted on as a sure factor in military operations and
policy instruments. The atomic bomb came as a revelation
to the world that the threats it implied of the dreadful
consequences of Hiroshima and Nagasaki, which the U.S. had

(134)

exactly sought in bombing these two cities, might well

befall any nation.

V. EPILOGUE

Once the planned use of the bomb materialized over
Hiroshima and Nagasaki, atomic bombs were elevated from a
highly promising but uncertain factor into the dead center
of U.S. policy making. Although his views.expressed in the
July 19, 1945 memorandum still remained basically unchanged,
Stimson, who was soon to leave the Cabinet, two months later
wrote to the President: '"any demand by us for an internal
change in Russia as a condition of sharing in the atomic

weapon would be so resented that it would make the objective
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we have in view less probable."(lss)

From this standpoint
Stimson proposed: '"we would be prepared in effect to enter an
arrangement with the Russians, the general purpose of which
would be to control and limit the use of the atomic bomb
as an instrument of war, and, so far as possible, to direct
and encourage the development of atomic power for peaceful
and humanitarian purposes.”(136)
Ironically, Stimson was coming a step closer to the
positions of Niels Bohr and the Metallurgical Laboratory's
Franck Committee, to which he had once turned a deaf ear,
but only after he had done quite the opposite of what they
had proposed. In Stimson's thought,'the bomb had existed

before Hiroshima and Nagasaki as the probable master-card

to play to gain a quid pro quo from the Soviets, but after

the atomic bombing he came to believe that the secrets
were so fragile that it could not be counted on as such.

In fact, he was now negating his earlier thought, a thought
upon which he had directed policy making, although in 1947
he was still attempting to justify the decision to use the
bomb.

Niels Bohr and the Frénck Committee were not alone in
warning against a nuclear arms race. Bush and Conant fore-
saw that danger explicitly in their September 30, 1944 memo-
randum, though their policy framework could not generate

alternatives. Stimson pointed outtthe same danger in his
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memorandum discussed with the President on April 25, 1945,
although he too was devoid of measures to avert it.' The
actual course of events leading to Hiroshima and Nagasaki
did nothing less than place the world, in Stimson's words,
"at the mercy" of nuclear weapons.(137)

Despite the cautionary note of Stimson, the U.S. never
tried to formulate a policy to avert the nuclear arms race,
and recast international relations along the lines of the
broad anti-fascist, democratic principles adhered to in
various joint statements made by‘Roosevelt, Churchill, and
Stalin. Obsessive preoccupation with giobal American
hegemony was too deep-rooted a factof to encourage alter-
native policy considerations. Instéad, the bomb became the
main instrument of the new nuclear politics.

The physicial inheritance of the Manhattan Project,
.which the Army was to transfer to the Atomic Energy Com-
mission sixteen months after Hiroshima, included thirty-
seven installations in nineteen states and Canada, with 254
military officers, 1,688 enlisted men, 3,950 Government

workers and about 37,800 contractor employees,(138)

which,

by then, had provided an embryonic infrastructure of the

military-industrial-academic complex of later years.
There were other inheritances, however. Heir to the

legacy of its predecessor, the Truman administration pro-

liferated qualitatively new legacies, anti-human and politi-
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cal, which have been handed on to this present time, and
possibly even beyond. The atomic bombing had put on
record the death toll of 140,000 (¥ 10,000) in Hiroshima,
and another 70,000 (% 10,000) in Nagasaki by the end of

1945, (139)

with many more dying from the delayed effects
of radiocactivity in later years, and the existence of tens
of thousands of bomb-affected survivors (HIBAKUSHA), with
all the unspeakable human and social consequences. The
atomic bombing and the American atomic monopoly demon-
strated to other nations that Hiroshima and Nagasaki could
one day be their fate. Thus, the Manhattan Project and
the atomic bombing had created an international millieu,
best suited politically and militarily for the U.S. to

initiate its "atomic diplomacy"(140)

in the postwar world,
thereby giving rise to the nuclear arms race.

It was only a matter of four years before the Soviet
Union exploded its own atomic bomb. Before long, Britain,
too, was to step on to the path of its own nuclear "inde-

n(141) The logic for other powers

pendence and deterrence.
to do likewise had been implanted in world politics by what

the American leaders had sought in the Manhattan Project.
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